FILED

JAN 18 2017

JAN 18 2017

WASHINGTON STATE
SUPREME COURT

SUPREME COURT NO. 940568

3

FILED
Dec 19, 2016
Court of Appeals
Division I
State of Washington

COURT OF APPEALS NO. 74050-4-I

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION ONE OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

PAULINE LOUISE CONNER,

Plaintiff/Appellant,

٧.

EVERHOME MORTGAGE COMPANY, a division of EVERBANK, REGIONAL TRUSTEE SERVICES, MORTGAGE ELECTRONIC REGISTRATION SYSTEMS, INC., a/k/a MERSCORP, FEDERAL NATIONAL MORTGAGE ASSOCIATION, LENDER PROCESSING SERVICES, DOES I-XXX, INCLUSIVE,

Defendants/Respondents.

APPELLANTS' PETITION FOR REVIEW

I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

The Petitioner is PAULINE LOUISE CONNER (hereinafter "Ms. Conner"), who was the Plaintiff in the original action under Snohomish County Superior Court Case No. 12-2-02860-3 and the Appellant in Court of Appeals, Division I, Case No. 70706-0-I.

II. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

Ms. Conner seeks review by the Supreme Court of the unpublished decision of the Court of Appeals filed November 21, 2016 (hereinafter "subject decision"), a copy of which is attached hereto at *Appendix "A"*.

III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- A. Whether the subject decision determining the Declarations of Bradley Lee and Deborah Kaufman were (1) admissible for purposes of *CR* 56(e) and *RCW* 5.45, et seq., and/or (2) were they sufficient to establish Respondents' right to foreclose as beneficiaries or parties entitled to enforce the subject loan obligation when the Declarations characterized documents that were prepared by third-parties, failing to attach the same, contrary to the Supreme Court's decision in *State v. Weeks*, 70 Wn.2d 951, 425 P.2d 885 (1967) (hereinafter "Weeks") and *State v. Fricks*, 91 Wn.2d 391, 588 P.2d 1328 (1979) (hereinafter "Fricks"), merits review under RAP 13.4(b)(1).
- B. Whether the subject decision declining to consider Appellant's claims for violation of the Washington Deed of Trust Act (RCW 61.24, et seq.)

(hereinaster "DTA"); violation of the Washington Consumer Protection Act (RCW 19.86, et seq.) (hereinaster "CPA") on the erroneous belief she did not plead violations of the DTA, merits review under RAP 13.4(b)(1) and RAP 13.4(b)(4).

- C. Whether the subject decision ignoring the trustee's breach of its duty of good faith under RCW 61.24.010 on the erroneous belief that Appellant failed to plead violations of the DTA, merits review under RAP 13.4(b)(1) and RAP 13.4(b)(4).
- D. Whether the subject decision ignoring a facially ambiguous "Affidavit of Possession" that violated the provisions of RCW 61.24.030(7)(a), merits review under RAP 13.4(b)(1) and RAP 13.4(b)(4).
- E. Whether the subject decision dismissing Appellant's meritorious CPA claims on the erroneous belief she did not plead violations of the DTA, merits review under RAP 13.4(b)(1) and RAP 13.4(b)(4).
- F. Whether the subject decision affirming the trial court's refusal to permit Ms. Conner additional time to obtain the testimony of a competent representative of U.S. Bank prior to summary judgment, pursuant to CR 56(f), merits review under RAP 13.4(b)(1) and RAP 13.4(b)(4).

While each of the foregoing issues merit this Court review under RAP 13.4(b)(1) and RAP 13.4(b)(4), Ms. Conner will only address Assignment of Error A and F, below.

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE.

Ms. Conner is the owner on title of certain real property situated in Snohomish County, State of Washington, commonly known as 21604 78th Avenue S.E., Woodinville, Washington 98072 (hereinafter the "Property").

On or about May 23, 2006, Ms. Conner executed a Promissory Note (hereinafter "Note") in favor of Irwin Mortgage Corporation (hereinafter "Irwin"), as lender and the party entitled to payments according to its terms. CP 140-142. This transaction was purportedly registered with Respondent, MORTGAGE ELECTRONIC REGISTRATION SYSTMES, INC. (hereinafter "MERS") by Irwin under MIN No. 1000139-0080839558-0. At no time relevant to this cause of action was MERS a true and lawful owner and holder of this Note.

To secure repayment of the Promissory Note, Ms. Conner, as grantor, executed a Deed of Trust dated May 23, 2006, naming Pacific Northwest Title, as the trustee, and MERS as named beneficiary, solely as a nominee for Irwin Mortgage Corporation, the Lender, and Lender's successors and assigns and encumbered the subject Property. Ms. Conner's Deed of Trust was recorded with the Snohomish County Auditor under Recording No. 200606050432 (hereinafter the "Deed of Trust"). CP 148-164. At no time relevant to this cause of action did Ms. Conner owe any monetary or other obligation to MERS, nor has MERS ever been a holder and owner of the subject Promissory

Note or other evidence of debt executed contemporaneously with the Deed of Trust as the term is defined under RCW 61.24.005(2).

On or about June 9, 2006, the Federal National Mortgage Association (hereinafter "Fannie Mae") purportedly purchase the Note and Deed of Trust and Respondent, EVERHOME MORTGAGE COMPANY (hereinafter "Everhome Mortgage") was allegedly retained only to service the loan. CP 924.

On August 27, 2009, Ms. Conner spoke to representatives of Everhome Mortgage who advised her to make two months of payments by August 31, 2009 to "avoid foreclosure". CP 841. On August 31, 2009, Ms. Conner's daughter-in-law called Everhome Mortgage to make payment as advised, but was told the property was already in foreclosure. CP 841.

On or about September 2, 2009, Rick Wilken, as purported Assistant Vice President of MERS, as Nominee for Irwin Mortgage Corporation, executed an Assignment of the Deed of Trust, assigning the MERS' beneficial interest in the Deed of Trust together with the note or notes therein described to Everhome Mortgage, which MERS never owned or held. CP 1115-1116. Said Assignment was recorded under Snohomish County Auditor's Recording No. 200910200613 on October 20, 2009.

Also executed on September 2, 2009 by Rick Wilken, only this time in his capacity as "Vice President" rather than as "Assistant Vice President" for

MERS, as nominee for Irwin Mortgage Corporation, was an Appointment of Successor Trustee, appointing Respondent, REGIONAL TRUSTEE SERVICES CORPORATION (hereinafter "Regional Trustee") as successor trustee. CP 668-669. Said Appointment of Successor Trustee was not recorded until October 20, 2009, under Snohomish County Auditor's Recording No. 200910200614.

On September 8, 2009, Michele de Craen, as Assistant Vice President of Everhome Mortgage, executed an Affidavit of Possession of Note. CP 757. The Affidavit alleges Everhome Mortgage to be the "owner" of the Note, rather than the "holder". Her Affidavit, however, ambiguously provides that she has "either personal knowledge of the facts set forth in this Affidavit or have made appropriate inquiry of those individuals having knowledge of the facts," essentially offering hearsay to fulfill the requirements under *RCW* 61.24.030(7)(a).

On September 18, 2009, Regional Trustee, as purported "trustee and/or agent for the Beneficiary", executed and served a Notice of Default. CP 660-663.

On October 19, 2009, Regional Trustee, as successor trustee, executed, recorded and served a Notice of Trustee's Sale, setting a sale date for January 22, 2010. CP 671-674. Said Notice of Trustee's Sale was recorded under Snohomish County Auditor's Recording No. 200910200615 on October 20,

2009. Pursuant to RCW 61.24.010(2), "Only upon recording the appointment of a successor trustee in each county in which the deed of trust is recorded, the successor trustee shall be vested with all powers of an original trustee." The appointment of successor trustee was not recorded until October 20, 2009, in violation of RCW 61.24.040.

In connection with the issuance of the Notice of Trustee's Sale, Regional Trustee prepared and executed a Notice of Foreclosure pursuant to RCW 61.24.040 indicating delinquent payments from May 1, 2009 to October 23, 2009, a period of 6 months. CP 682-684. However, the Notice of Foreclosure lists 9 delinquent payments. Moreover, there is no accounting for the 2 payments Ms. Conner made on August 31, 2009.

The Trustee's Sale set for January 22, 2010, was postponed/continued until the Property was eventually foreclosed on April 16, 2010, and the Trustee's Deed was recorded on April 29, 2010, under Snohomish County Recording No. 201004290388. CP 1127-1128.

On April 13, 2011, a Consent Order was entered into between EverBank Financial Corp., of which Everhome Mortgage is a purported subsidiary/division, and the Office of Thrift Supervision. CP 55, CP 219-239, CP 1193. Much of the conduct complained of here has apparently occurred numerous times before.

On October 20, 2011, Fannie Mae quit claimed its ownership interest in the subject property to "Everbank". Fannie Mae's Quit Claim Deed was recorded on December 13, 2011, under Snohomish County Recording No. 201112128185. CP 244-246.

On March 8, 2012, an Order Staying Proceedings was entered by the trial court, ordering Ms. Conner to make monthly payments into the Court Registry beginning April 8, 2012, and each month thereafter in the amount of \$2,381.62. CP 241-242. As of July 31, 2015, the Superior Court Clerk verified that \$95,286.69 has been deposited by Ms. Conner. CP 135.

On February 13, 2012, Plaintiff filed her Complaint herein alleging causes of action against the named Respondents. CP 1257-1269.

On May 14, 2012, Plaintiff filed her First Amended Complaint herein. CP 1192-1205.

Respondents filed their Motion for Summary Judgment on July 9, 2015, seeking dismissal as to all causes of action. CP 763-779.

On August 4, 2015, Ms. Conner moved for continuance of the hearing on summary judgment, pursuant to *CR 56(f)*, seeking specific information, in the absence of an answer to Ms. Conner's Amended Complaint. CP 79-85.

On August 7, 2015, Respondents answered Ms. Conner's Amended Complaint. CP 54-62. However, this did not provide Ms. Conner sufficient time prior to hearing on summary judgment to conduct discovery.

On September 14, 2015, the trial court heard Respondent's Motion for Summary Judgement and Ms. Conner's Motion to Continue the Hearing. The trial court, *inter alia*, denied Ms. Conner's Motion to Continue the Hearing (CR 56(f)) and took the remaining issues under advisement. CP 16.

On September 22, 2015, the trial court entered its Memorandum Decision, granting Respondents' Motion for Summary Judgment, dismissing all of Ms. Conner's claims. CP 10-15. This appeal followed. CP 1-9.

On November 21, 2016, the Court of Appeals filed its unpublished Opinion affirming the trial court's Summary Judgment. See Appendix "A".

V. ARGUMENT AND AUTHORITY

A. Review should be granted to determine whether the Court of Appeals' holding affirming the Trial Court's reliance of Declarations of Lee and Kaufman was erroneous.

Relying on *Barkley v. GreenPoint Mortgage*, 190 Wn.App. 58, 358 P.3d 1204 (2015), the Court of Appeals affirmed the trial court's reliance on the Declarations of Brandley Lee (CP 716-719) and Deborah Kaufman (CP 653-687). However, this reliance was misplaced.

Each declarant claims to have "personally reviewed" the business records maintained by their respective employers and has "personal knowledge" of the facts they related to the trial court. However, neither of the declarants demonstrated sufficient personal and testimonial knowledge of the

facts offered the trial court beyond conclusory statements and statements based exclusively on hearsay. ER 801, ER 802, CR 56(e).

Business records offered on summary judgment must be identified by an employee of the company who created the document, a records custodian or the person who supervised the documents' creation to be admissible. State v. Meyer, 27 Wn.2d 759, 226 P.2d 204 (1951); Fies v. Story, 21 Wn.App. 413, 585 P.2d 190 (1978) (overruled on different grounds Chaplin v. Sanders, 100 Wn.2d 853, 676 P.2d 431 (1984)); State v. Alexander, 64 Wn.App. 147, 822 P.2d 1250 (1992). The "business record" exception to the hearsay rule does not extend to records and information compiled and received from third parties. State v. Weeks, supra. See generally, Tegland, Washington Practice: Evidence § 803.39 (5th Ed. 2007).

Moreover, conclusory statements or "mere averment" that the affiant has personal knowledge are insufficient to support a motion for summary judgment. CR 56(e); Blomster v. Nordstrom, 103 Wn.App. 252, 260, 11 P.3d 883 (2000); Editorial Commentary to CR 56 (citing Antonio v. Barnes, 464 F2d 584, 585 (4th Cir. 1972)). Indeed, the contents of a business record cannot be established by a witness' oral testimony, the actual document must be offered. ER 803(a)(6) and (7); ER 1002; Fricks, at page 397, ("In this case the State failed to produce the document or to make any showing of its unavailability.

Under these circumstances the testimony of a manager as to its contents was not an acceptable method of proof.")

With these requirements in mind, Ms. Kaufman's and Mr. Lee's specific factual allegations must be critically considered.

Ms. Kaufman and Mr. Lee each indicate they reviewed documents, but fail to identify the specific documents they reviewed, ambiguously referring to the records as "compilations" "business records", etc. of their respective firms. However, these "business records" necessarily include records and information complied by third parties (hearsay). Under Washington law, such third-party information and records must be separately authenticated by the third party who compiled the records to meet the business records exception to the hearsay rule and meet the requirement that such testimony must be based on personal knowledge from the third party's records custodian that satisfies each of the elements of RCW 5.45.020. State v. Weeks, supra; (affirming trial court's decision that out-of-state hospital record proffered by physician was inadmissible hearsay and business records exception to hearsay rule was not established because "[t]here was no evidence by the custodian of records of the Arkansas hospital or by any other qualified person that the document in question was a business record"); MRC Receivables Corp. v. Zion, 152 Wn.App. 625, 631 & n. 9, 218 P.3d 621 (2009) (reversing summary judgment entered in favor of debt collector, and identifying as one of the issues for determination on remand whether "Sharp's affidavit [submitted by debt collector in support of summary judgment] presented only inadmissible hearsay" and met business records exception to hearsay rule, given the "lack of an explanation for how Sharp's status as a Midland employee provide[d] her with personal knowledge of her assertions regarding MRC, Zion's account with Providian, and how MRC came to own it"). Absent a proper foundation, the testimony of Ms. Kaufman (a representative of Regional Trustee) and Mr. Lee (a representative of EverBank) should have been stricken and disregarded by the trial court on summary judgment.

Specifically, Ms. Kaufman states that "Regional's involvement began... when it received a referral for foreclosure from Everbank," referring to an Exhibit "A". CP 654. However, the subject referral came from a company called "LPS", a third party — not EverBank. In fact, the alleged referral indicates that LPS made the referral on behalf of Everhome Mortgage — not EverBank. CP 658. There is no indication that Regional Trustee investigated or verified the information it received from LPS, as required under *RCW* 61.24.010, Lyons v. U.S. Bank, 181 Wn.2d 775, 336 P.3d 1142 (2014) (hereinafter "Lyons") and Trujillo v. NWTS, 183 Wn.2d 820, 355 P.3d 1100 (2015) (hereinafter "Trujillo II"). The referral (Exhibit "A") does not indicate where LPS got its information, the claim that Ms. Conner was in default or who may have made such a claim, or otherwise provide a justification or

authority for initiating a non-judicial foreclosure (hearsay). Whatever information LPS had, it would certainly not have been a "business record" of Regional Trustee. Moreover, as LPS has never been identified as an owner, holder, servicer or investor in the loan at any time relevant to this cause of action, LPS' information would necessarily have come from some other undisclosed third party (hearsay). The source of Regional Trustee's referral and the quality of the information it relied upon should have been material to the trial court on summary judgment to establish Regional Trustee's authority to initiate a non-judicial foreclosure and Regional Trustee's compliance with its duties under the DTA – without this referral, Regional Trustee would never have had colorable authority to initiate a foreclosure of Ms. Conner's home in the first instance, in violation of its duty of good faith under RCW 61.24.010(4).

Furthermore, Ms. Kaufman indicates that Regional Trustee relied on an Affidavit of Possession to initiate the subject foreclosure, but fails to provide a copy of the affidavit it relied upon. It is a requisite to a trustee's issuance of a notice of sale that the trustee have in its possession a "declaration by the beneficiary made under the penalty of perjury stating that the beneficiary is the actual holder of the promissory note." RCW 61.24.030(7)(a); Lyons and Trujillo II. Apparently this affidavit was not part of Regional Trustee's business records, as would be statutorily required, and

the information Ms. Kaufman relied upon to make her Declaration came from another unidentified source (hearsay). This information is material because without providing the trial court the Affidavit actually relied upon, the trial court could not verify compliance with RCW 61.24.030(7)(a); Lyons and Trujillo II. Although a copy of an affidavit of possession is attached to the Declaration of Brandley Lee at CP 757, there was no evidence before the trial court that the Affidavit of Possession attached to Mr. Lee's Declaration was identical to the document Ms. Kaufman referred to in her Declaration and the same document relied upon by Regional Trustee to initiate and prosecute the non-judicial foreclosure of Ms. Conner's home, pursuant to RCW 61.24.030(7)(a).

Turning to Mr. Lee's Declaration, he makes the statement that "[i]n June 2006, IMC" (Irwin) sold the loan to Fannie Mae and indorsed the Note in blank", but also testifies that "[e]ffective January 2007, loan servicing transferred to EverBank". CP 717. But, how does he know? His company was not involved in the purported transaction. Mr. Lee does not testify that he has ever seen the original Note, so he cannot testify that he has personal knowledge of whether EverBank actually holds and possesses the Note or whether there is an endorsement on the Note or not. Since EverBank did not come into possession of the Note until 2007, EverBank would necessarily have to rely on the business records of Irwin and Fannie Mae (hearsay) to establish

the sale of the loan and transfer, evidence that was not offered the trial court. The MERS records offered by Mr. Lee, dated March 5, 2013 (hearsay), do not confirm a sale to Fannie Mae, rather a transfer of "beneficial rights" to Fannie Mae, as an "investor" is referenced. CP 743-744. These issues are material because nowhere in his Declaration does Mr. Lee ever state that he has seen the original Note and can verify, based on that personal inspection, that EverBank or Everhome Mortgage actually holds and has possession of the original Note, with endorsement affixed, or not. Certainly, the original Note was never produced at hearing on summary judgment. Rather, Mr. Lee relies entirely on the business records of Irwin, MERS and Fannie Mae and "data compilations, electronically imaged documents, and others" (hearsay). CP 717.

Moreover, neither Ms. Kaufman nor Mr. Lee provide the Court facts that would establish (1) how the documents they refer to are maintained, whether in hard copy or electronic; (2) if the records are maintained by electronic means, whether the computer document retrieval equipment used is standard; (3) the original source of the materials maintained; (4) the identity of person who compiled the information contained in the files or computer printouts; (5) when, aside from the conclusory statements that they were made "at or near the time of the happening or event", the records or the entries were made and (6) and how the employer of each declarant relies on these records.

See RCW 5.45.020; State v. Smith, 16 Wn.App. 425, 558 P.2d 265 (1976) and State v Kane, 23 Wn.App. 107, 594 P.2d 1357 (1979). Without this information, there is no assurance that the information offered by these declarants is reliable absent verification by the entity that provided the information as to the means by which the information was created and maintained. See State v. Mason, 31 Wn.App. 680, 644 P.2d 710 (1982). There were simply no facts offered the trial court or the Court of Appeals that would justify the trial court's or Court of Appeals' reliance on the information provided by these declarants.

This sort of careless and conclusory testimony is typical of testimony offered by mortgage lenders and loan servicers in defense to challenges to their foreclosure efforts and has been roundly criticized by other trial courts in Washington. See *McDonald v. OneWest*, 929 F. Supp. 2d 1079 (2013) where Judge Robert Lasnik was offered testimony by Mr. Boyle and other representatives of loan servicers on summary judgment like that offered by Mr Lee and Ms. Kaufman here. In *McDonald*, Judge Lasnik observed:

The testimony of Mr. Boyle and Mr. Corcoran confirmed what this Court has long suspected: defendants have not taken their obligations as litigants in federal court seriously enough. Rather than obtain declarations from individuals with personal knowledge of the facts asserted or locate the source documents underlying its computer records, defendants chose to offer up what can only be described as a "Rule 30(b)(6) declarant" who regurgitated information provided by other sources. Rule 30(b)(6) is a rule that applies to depositions in which an opposing party is given the opportunity to question a

corporate entity and bind it for purposes of the litigation. A declaration, on the other hand, is not offered as the testimony of the corporation, but rather reflects – or is supposed to reflect – the personal knowledge of the declarant.

Not surprisingly given the fact that his counsel apparently did not understand the difference between a declaration based on personal knowledge and a Rule 30(b)(6) deposition, Mr. Boyle's declarations consist of sweeping statements, a few of which may be within his ken and admissible, but most of which are assuredly hearsay. When he was asked to sign a declaration in this case, he thought he was responding on behalf of OneWest and therefore felt justified in questioning coworkers, running computer searches, and reviewing other sources before reporting their statements as his own. Nothing in his declarations would alert the reader to the fact that Mr. Boyle was simply repeating what he had heard or read from undisclosed and untested sources. When his statements turned out to be untrue, Mr. Boyle conveniently blames inaccuracies in the underlying documentation, computer input errors, or faulty reporting. Had defendants made the effort to produce admissible evidence in the first place, these errors may have been uncovered and avoided before they could taint the discovery process in this case.

McDonald, 929 F. Supp. at 1090-1091. (Emphasis added). The same criticisms can be lodged against the testimony of Mr. Lee and Ms. Kaufman in all forms offered to the trial court and Court of Appeals.

Absent a proper foundation, the testimony of Mr. Lee and Ms. Kaufman constituted rank hearsay that should not have been considered or given any weight by the trial court on summary judgment or the Court of Appeals on review. CR 56(e), ER 803(a)(6) and RCW 5.45.020. The Court of Appeals' reliance on these defective Declarations merits review under RAP 13.4(b)(1).

B. Review should be granted to determine whether the Court of Appeals' holding affirming the Trial Court's refusal to permit Ms. Conner time to obtain additional evidence under CR 56(f) was erroneous.

The Court of Appeals affirmed the trial court's denial of Ms. Conner's request for a continuance under *CR 56(f)*, arguing that there was no showing of abuse of discretion by the trial court. This finding was erroneous.

In view of Ms. Kaufman's and Mr. Lee's incompetent testimony and Respondents failure to answer her Amended Complaint in a timely fashion, Ms. Conner requested relief under *CR* 56(f). CP 79-85.

As noted above, there were numerous material issues of fact raised by the testimony offered by Respondents on summary judgment that could not be adequately addressed without additional discovery. To address the outstanding issues, and the Court of Appeals' finding to the contrary notwithstanding, Ms. Conner, through counsel, identified and requested the opportunity to conduct discovery on a range of specific issues germane to the facts raised in Respondents Motion for Summary Judgment. CP 84-85.

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