SUPREME COURT NO. 940548

COURT OF APPEALS No. 74050-4-I

THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

PAULINE CONNER,

Plaintiff/Appellant.

v.

JAN 2 0 2017
Washington State
Supreme Court

EVERHOME MORTGAGE COMPANY, a division of EVERBANK, REGIONAL TRUSTEE SERVICES, INC., MORTGAGE ELECTRONIC REGISTRATION SYSTEMS, INC., a/k/a MERSCORP, FEDERAL NATIONAL MORTGAGE ASSOCIATION, LENDER PROCESSING SERVICES, DOES I-XXX, INCLUSIVE,

Defendants/Respondents

ANSWER TO PETITION

Nicolas Daluiso, WSBA No. 23505 Wesley Werich, WSBA No. 38428 Robinson Tait, P.S. 710 Second Avenue, Suite 710 Seattle, WA 98104 Phone: (206) 676-9640 Facsimile: (206) 676-9659

Counsel for Respondents

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

IV. ARGUMENT

1. Standard of Review

RAP 13.4(b) provides that a petition for review will be accepted by the Supreme Court only: (1) if the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court; or (2) if the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with another decision of the Court of Appeals; or (3) if a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington or of the United States is involved; or (4) if the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court.

Petitioner relies on RAP 13.4(b)(1) and (4). Because the lower court ruling does not create a conflict in law or involve an issue of substantial public interest.

review is not warranted.

2. The Court of Appeals did not commit error by affirming the trial court's reliance on the Declarations of Lee and Kaufman.

The Court of Appeals properly relied on Washington statutory and case law authority governing the submission of supporting declarations on summary judgment and the application of the business records. Specifically, the Court of Appeals relied on the recent published appellate decision in *Barkley v. GreenPoint Mortg. Funding, Inc.*, 358 P.3d 1204, 1210, 190 Wash.App. 58, 67–68 (Wash.App. Div. 1, 2015). Petitioner offers no explanation to support her claim that the Court's reliance on *Barkley v. GreenPoint Mortg. Funding, Inc.* was misplaced. The *Barkley* case is directly on point and in line with Washington court rules on summary judgment and the evidence code.

Under Washington law, to be considered on summary judgment, a supporting declaration must be made on personal knowledge and the facts set forth must be admissible in evidence. CR 56(e) provides the requirements for an admissible affidavit:

Supporting and opposing affidavits shall be made on personal knowledge, shall set forth such facts as would be admissible in evidence, and shall show affirmatively that the affiant is competent to testify to the matters stated therein. Sworn or certified copies of all papers or parts thereof referred to in an affidavit shall be attached thereto or served therewith.

CR 56(e) affidavits must be made on personal knowledge, must set forth

facts admitted into evidence, and must show that the affiant is competent to testify to the information in the declaration. Washington courts consider the requirement of personal knowledge to be satisfied if the proponent of the evidence satisfies the business records statute. *See Discover Bank v. Bridges*, 154 Wn.App. 722, 726, 226 P.3d 191 (2010). RCW 5.45.020 provides that a business record is admissible when

[T]he custodian or other qualified witness testifies to its identity and the mode of its preparation, and if it was made in the regular course of business, at or near the time of the act, condition or event, and if, in the opinion of the court, the sources of information, method and time of preparation were such as to justify its admission.

Courts broadly interpret the statutory terms "custodian" and "other qualified witness". *State v. Smith*, 55 Wn.2d 482, 348 P.2d 417 (1960); *State v. Quincy*, 122 Wn.App. 395, 399, 95 P.3d 353 (2004). Also, the need not be identified by the person who created it. *Cantrill v. Am. Mail Line, Ltd.*, 42 Wn.2d 590, 257 P.2d 179 (1953). In the trial court proceeding, Respondents submitted the Declaration of Lee and Kaufman in support of summary judgment. The Declarations contained adequate foundation to qualify as business records and the exhibits were properly authenticated. The trial court did not abuse its discretion by allowing said Declarations to be considered especially in light of Petitioner not submitting any contradictory evidence or moving to timely strike the Declarations.

Petitioner cites two Supreme Court cases in the Issues Presented Section. but provides no analysis or explanation as to how these cases apply to the present case and create a conflict of interest. The two cases cited *State v. Weeks* and *State v. Fricks* are not in conflict. In *State v. Weeks*. the Supreme Court determined that the unauthenticated hospital record was not "competent evidence" because it did not satisfy RCW 5.45.020 based on the record not having been made in the regular course of business. *State v. Weeks*, 425 P.2d 885, 886–87, 70 Wash.2d 951, 953 (WASH 1967). Contrary to Petitioner's claim, the *State v. Weeks* case did not hold that a declaration was inadmissible under the business records exception because it contains information compiled from third parties.

Petitioner's citation to *State v. Fricks* is similarly misguided. Petitioner seems to cite the *Fricks* case for the proposition that the contents of a business record cannot be established by a witness's oral testimony, the actual document must be offered. The Court noted that appropriate testimony must establish the identity and mode of preparation in order to lay a foundation for admission under RCW 5.45.020. *State v. Fricks*. 588 P.2d 1328. 1333, 91 Wash.2d 391, 397–98 (Wash., 1979). Nothing about the Court of Appeal's decision conflicts with this Supreme Court decision. In fact, the Court of Appeal's decision is consistent with *Fricks* in the criteria it considered in determining whether the business records applied. Specifically, the Court noted that the affiants provided their respective titles and declared under penalty of perjury they had personal knowledge of how the business maintained records and personally reviewed the records, which were attached as exhibits.

Furthermore, as noted by the trial court. Petitioner offered no evidence contesting the facts in the Declarations of Lee and Kaufman. Therefore, the undisputed record before the trial court demonstrated that the information in the Declarations of Lee and Kaufman was accurate and could be considered on summary judgment. A trial court's decision to admit or exclude evidence lies within its sound discretion and will not be reversed absent a manifest abuse of discretion. *Int'l Ultimate, Inc. v. St. Paul Fire & Marine Ins. Co.*, 122 Wn. App. 736, 744, 87 P.3d 774 (2004) (no abuse of discretion in admitting documents under business records exception to hearsay prohibition). A trial court's decision to admit evidence is reviewed for a manifest abuse of discretion. *State v, Ziegler*, 114 Wn.2d 533, 538 (1990). A trial court abuses its discretion when it bases its decision on unreasonable or unsound grounds. *Dix v. ICI Group, Inc.*, 160 Wn.2d 826, 833 (2007). There is nothing in the record to suggest that the trial court abused its discretion.

The Court of Appeals properly affirmed the trial court's decision to admit the Declarations of Lee and Kaufman because they both complied with CR 56(e) and RCW 5.45.020 and Petitioner submitted no contrary evidence. The Court of Appeals also considered that in the trial court, the Petitioner failed to move to strike the Declaration of Kaufman and therefore could not raise this issue on appeal. In conclusion, both the trial court's ruling to allow the Declarations and its granting of summary judgment and the Division I's affirmation are correct decisions.

Lastly, Petitioner also does not identify any issue of substantial public interest to support her request for relief under RAP 13.4(b)(4) and no such public interest concern exists. The case involves the private matter of a routine non-judicial foreclosure of secured property due to a loan default. Division I's unpublished decision did not alter or expand on the current state of foreclosure law in Washington State. While there will continue to be non-judicial foreclosures and summary judgments concerning foreclosures, a Supreme Court decision in this case is not likely to impact any such future proceedings because the underlying findings were limited to the particular facts of this case. Because no issue of substantial public interest exists, the Petition for Review should be denied.

3. The Court of Appeals did not commit error by affirming the trial court's denial of Petitioner's request for a CR 56(f) Continuance

The Supreme Court should not accept this Petition for Review because the decision of the Court of Appeals does not conflict with a Supreme Court decision and involves no issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court. Petitioner offers no evidence warranting a review under these criteria. Petitioner only argues for a liberal reading of the discovery rules.

Accordingly, the Petition for Review should be denied.

A trial court's denial of a motion for a CR 56(f) continuance is reviewed for an abuse of discretion. *Lake Chelan Shores Homeowners Ass 'n* v. *Sf. Paul Fire & Marine Ins. Co.*, 176 Wn. App. 168, 183, 313 P.3d 408 (2013). "A trial

court abuses its discretion if its decision is manifestly unreasonable or based upon untenable grounds or reasons." *State v. Lamb*, 175 Wn.2d 121, 127, 285 P.3d 27 (2012). A trial court may deny a CR 56(f) continuance if: (1) the party seeking it has no good reason for the delay in obtaining the evidence, (2) the requesting party does not indicate what evidence would be established by further discovery, or (3) the new evidence would not raise a genuine issue of material fact. *Baechler v. Beaunaux*, 167 Wn. App. 128, 132, 272 P.3d 277 (2012).

Here, the trial court found that the evidence sought by Petitioner would not have created an issue of fact and therefore the continuance was not warranted. The Court of Appeals correctly affirmed this decision because Petitioner did not make the showing necessary to justify a CR 56(f) continuance and nothing in the record demonstrated the trial court acted unreasonably thereby abusing its discretion. Petitioner argues that the trial court offered no grounds for its decision denying the continuance. This is blatantly wrong. In its Memorandum of Decision, the trial court found that the discovery sought was not material in the judgment of the court. Additionally, the court denied the continuance because Petitioner offered no reason to doubt the accuracy of the declarations and therefore the court found no reason to believe that a continuance would be fruitful. The Court of Appeals properly affirmed this decision finding that the evidence sought by Petitioner would not have created an issue of material fact, which is an express ground for denying a continuance. The Court of Appeals also

considered the three-year time frame that Petitioner had to complete discovery but failed to do so.

And even if the trial court abused its discretion, which there is no evidence of, the issue does not conflict with Supreme Court authority or present a substantial public interest. Reviewing the appellate decision will not provide new guidance to litigants. There is no novel issue of law that would redefine existing law. For the foregoing reasons, the Court should deny the Petition for Review.

V. REQUEST FOR ATTORNEY'S FEES

Pursuant to RAP 18.1, Respondents request attorneys' fees and costs on appeal.

RAP 18.1(j) provides for a fee award for answering petitions for review.

Specifically, the rule provides:

If attorney fees and expenses are awarded to the party who prevailed in the Court of Appeals, and if a petition for review to the Supreme Court is subsequently denied, reasonable attorney fees and expenses may be awarded for the prevailing party's preparation and filing of the timely answer to the petition for review. A party seeking attorney fees and expenses should request them in the answer to the petition for review.

In Washington, attorney fees are awarded to the prevailing party in an action on a contract when the contract provides for attorney fees and costs incurred to enforce its provisions. *QFC v. Mary Jewell T. L.L.C.*. 134 Wn. App. 814. 818, 142 P.3d 206 (2006); see also *Union Bank, N.A. v. Blanchard*. 378 P.3d 191, 203. 194 Wash.App. 340, 364 (Wash.App. Div. 1. 2016)

Attorney's fees are provided for in the Deed of Trust and are appropriate here

because Respondents prevailed on the appeal and the Petition for Review is without

any legal or factual basis. As such, Respondents respectfully requests this Court

grant its request for reasonable attorney's fees against Petitioner Pauline Conner.

Respondents further request leave of Court to file an Affidavit supporting attorney's

fees. RAP 18.1(d).

VI. **CONCLUSION**

The arguments in Petitioner's petition for review are without merit. The

decision of the Court of Appeals is not in conflict with a decision from the Supreme

Court nor does it involve an issue of substantial public interest. Accordingly, the

petition for review should be denied.

Nicolas Daluiso, WSBA #23505

Robinson Tait, P.S.

Attorneys For Lender Respondents

12